IMPLEMENTATION OF BUSINESS PROCESS REENGINEERING FOR COMPETITIVE ADVANTAGE: A CASE STUDY OF THE WRIGLEY COMPANY

GODWIN KIPLIMO KAPTOGE

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROB

A Management Research Project Proposal presented in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Business Administration, School of Business, University of Nairobi

DECLARATION

This research is my original work and has not been submitted for examination in this or any other University.

Date 18th August 2009 Signed.....

Godwin Kiplimo Kaptoge D61/P/7613/2003

This project has been submitted for examination with my approval as the University Supervisor.

.... Date. Signed.....

Onserio Nyamwange

Department of Management Science School of Business

University of Nairobi

DEDICATION

This project is dedicated to my parents. Thank you for instilling in me the confidence to know that I can succeed in anything I set my mind to do and for all your sacrifices throughout my education.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The MBA program at the University of Nairobi is very challenging and requires resources in order to complete. While it is not possible to thank everyone who assisted me in one way or another, I wish to recognize the following:

The management of The Wrigley Company (EA) Ltd. for recognizing the value of advanced degree studies in its employees and therefore to a large extent sponsoring my MBA studies.

My Supervisor Mr. Nyamwange and Moderator Mr. Magutu for providing me with guidance in compiling this report. Without their help, I would not have had the ability to complete this report.

All my colleagues at The Wrigley Company (EA) Ltd. for responding to my request to complete the research questionnaire without which this work would not have been complete.

All my friends and family who stood by me while undertaking the MBA program.

ABSTRACT

This study aimed to establish whether The Wrigley Company East Africa achieved operational competitive advantage by implementing Business Process Reengineering (BPR). In addition, the study aimed to explain the possible reasons why The Wrigley Company may have succeeded or failed to attain competitive advantage by implementing BPR. The study intended to determine if there was improvement in the competitive measures of cost management, customer service, quality and productivity. The study also looked at the BPR implementation process by seeking to understand if documented key success factors for BPR implementation were followed and if the success or failure to achieve competitive advantage can be explained by the key drivers for success in BPR implementation.

The research was conducted by collecting primary data from the employees of the Wrigley Company. An online questionnaire based on the competitive measures and BPR implementation key success factors was used to collect the data from which certain findings were deduced. It was established that The Wrigley Company gained competitive advantage by implementing BPR. It was also established that it adopted the BPR practises that are critical for successful implementation.

From the research findings, the researcher recommends that organizations seeking to undertake BPR initiatives should first understand the need for changing the organization. They will then need to ensure that they adopt the key success factors for BPR implementation and based on the findings of this research, competitive advantage will be attained.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATION	
DEDICATIONi	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSii	i
ABSTRACT	ř
TABLE OF CONTENTS	V
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS vi	
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Background	
1.1.1 Business Process Reengineering	
1.1.2 The Competitive Dimensions	
1.1.3 The Wrigley Company	5
1.2 Problem Statement	5
1.3 Objectives of the study	
1.4 Significance of the study	
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW	
2.1 BPR Framework	
2.1.1 Functional Coupling1	
2.1.2 Architectural Triad1	0
2.1.3 The Restructuring Framework	1
2.2 Key Drivers for Success or Failure 1	1
2.2.1 Compelling business case for change	2
2.2.2 Top Management Sponsorship1	3
2.2.3 Effective Change Management1	5
2.2.4 Reengineering team composition1	6
2.2.5 Effective use of Project Management Techniques1	7
2.2.6 Information Technology infrastructure	7
2.2.7 Effective Process re-design	8
2.3 Competitive Advantage	8
2.3.1 Cost Management	
2.3.2 Customer Service	
2.3.3 Quality	1
2.3.4 Productivity	

СНАРТ	TER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	23
3.1	Research design	23
3.2	The Population	23
3.3	Sample Design	23
3.4	Data Collection	24
3.5	Data analysis	24
CHAPT	FER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS, FINDINGS AND DISCUSSIONS	26
4.1	Introduction	26
4.2	Employee responses	26
4.3	Competitive Advantage	28
4.4	Key drivers for success or failure	34
CHAPT	FER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	36
5.1	Introduction	36
5.2	Summary and Conclusions	36
5.3	Recommendations	37
5.4	Limitations of the study	38
5.5	Suggestions for further research	38
REFER	RENCES	39
APPEN	DIX 1: LETTER OF INTRODUCTION	43
APPEN	DIX II: QUESTIONNAIRE	44
SEC	TION A: Bio Data	44
SEC	TION B: Competitive Advantage	45
SEC	TION C: BPR Implementation	47
APPEN	DIX III: RESPONSES MEANS AND CONSENSUS	50

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND ACRONYMS

BPR	-	Business Process Reengineering
ERP	-	Enterprise Resource Planning
SAP	-	Systems Applications and Products
SKU	-	Stock Keeping Unit
GRM	-	Global Reference Model
WeB Esprit	-	Codename for Wrigley BPR project

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

The competitive pressure to meet customer expectations is growing at an ever faster pace. The steady improvement of products and services is no longer sufficient to survive in the global marketplace. The need is for a radical change in the way we all work (Macdonald, 1995). Business performance improvement techniques include quality management, process improvement and process reengineering methodologies. Quality management methodologies for example Total Quality Management (TQM), Six Sigma and process improvement techniques like the Japanese Kaizen, Lean, Total Productive Maintenance (TPM) among others focus on improving existing process whereas business process reengineering (BPR) brings about completely new processes. The radical approach to BPR was pronounced as the only means of salvation for organisations trapped in outmoded and outdated business processes and general ways of working (Valentine & Knights, 1998). From a BPR perspective there non value adding processes should be obliterated rather than improving or automating them (Hammer, 1990).

The idea of designing businesses has been around for a long time and structured methods of doing this emerged in the 1980's (Dale, 1994). Business process reengineering is perhaps the most popular business concept since the 1990's (Davenport, 1998). Many organizations have initiated reengineering efforts and often use the term reengineering to describe what they do be it incremental process improvements, downsizing to even new information technology systems. This signifies the popularity of the concept of reengineering among businesses and even the public sector. The concept of reengineering has however been around even before the 1990's; (Grover & William, 1998) some scholars argue that it is a derivative of scientific management and further enhanced by the value chain concept (Porter, 1985) popularized by Michael Porter. Business process reengineering also has its roots in quality management and process improvement however the key aspect of reengineering is starting from a clean slate.

One may argue that reengineering is usually quite disruptive to a business and successful businesses never undertake reengineering efforts. As much as this argument may be true, in quality and process improvement techniques the degree of change, risks and desired performance improvements are much less than those of a reengineering exercise. In general, research shows that there are target improvements of 5-10% for Kaizen versus 20-30% for TQM versus 50-80% for reengineering (Grover & William, 1998).

1.1.1 Business Process Reengineering

Business process reengineering (BPR) is defined as the fundamental rethinking and redesign of business processes to achieve dramatic improvements in critical, contemporary measures of performance, such as cost, quality, service and speed (Hammer & Champy, 1993). This definition means that BPR requires radical transformation as opposed to incremental change and hence the fundamental question an organization must address before adopting BPR is if there is a compelling business case for change.

There is ample evidence that there is major risk and pain associated with re-engineering the total organization. Many organizations seeking to implement BPR fail, (Hammer & Champy, 1993) estimate that as many as 70 percent do not achieve the dramatic results they seek. These risks are compounded by the time it takes to accomplish the radical change (Macdonald, 1995). This mixture of results makes the issue of BPR implementation very important. BPR has great potential for increasing productivity but it often requires a fundamental organisational change. As a result, the implementation process is complex, and needs to be checked against several success/failure factors to ensure successful implementation, as well as to avoid implementation pitfalls (Majed & Mohammed, 1999).

Well documented BPR success stories have prompted managers to explore the philosophy however the resulting landslide of companies who have initiated their own process improvement efforts with little payback has made it apparent that a successful

2

outcome to BPR maybe the exception rather than the rule (Marchland & Stanford, 1995). The major cause of the failure usually comes at implementation time because few companies can afford to obliterate their existing business environments and start from scratch.

Reengineering typically involves the use of information technology to enable new ways of working (Grover & William, 1998). Most central is enterprise resource planning (ERP) software which is almost always implemented during a BPR exercise. ERP systems are configurable information systems packages that integrate information and information based processes within and across functional areas in an organization.

Today's ERP systems are an outgrowth of traditional MRP (Material Requirements Planning) systems, MRP was designed to plan only for inventories i.e. based on desired production quantities (Shehab et al., 2004) an MRP system would look at the quantities of raw materials required, quantities on hand and procurement lead times and provide the planner information on when to order the raw materials. An ERP system not only provides all the functionality that MRP would provide but goes further to look at an organizations end to end business from sales planning, customer order management, production scheduling, inventory control, finance, accounts payable and so on.

Although an ERP system is a pure software package, it embodies established ways of doing business. Studies have illustrated that an ERP system is not just a pure software package to be tailored to an organisation but an organizational infrastructure that affects how people work and that it "imposes its own logic on a company's strategy, organisation, and culture" (Davenport, 1998). According to AMR research, the leading global ERP vendors are SAP (43%), Oracle (22%), Sage (6%), Microsoft (4%), others (25%).

1.1.2 The Competitive Dimensions

If an organization implements BPR how then will one measure if the organization has gained competitive advantage? Competitive strategy is about being different; it means deliberately choosing a different set of activities to deliver a unique mix of value (Chase et al., 2003). A company's competitiveness can therefore be defined as its relative position in comparison with other companies in the local and global marketplace. We must however align the competitive strategy that an organization undertakes with its overall operations strategy. There are a number of definitions of operations strategy, we can generally define it as the decisions which shape the long-term capabilities of the company's operations and their contribution to overall strategy through the on-going reconciliation of market requirements and operations resources (Foster, 2001). Pursuing this argument further, we see that the key lies with reconciliation of market requirements and operational resources.

The market requirements are simply the customer requirements and therefore the key to attaining competitive advantage is to differentiate the organization in a manner to appeal to the customers to buy one's products and services (Kenduiywo, 2005). What interests a customer to buy one's products are therefore the competitive dimensions also referred to as Performance Objectives, Competitive Devices, Strategic Choice Attributes, Customer Requirements, Competitive Priorities, Competitive Capabilities and also Operations Priorities (Kenduiywo, 2005).

Given the broad definition, it is clear that there are hundreds of such factors depending on the industry, products & services, customer's culture etc. however from an operations perspective these factors can be broadly classified into 4 dimensions namely cost, quality, timeliness and flexibility (Chase et al., 2003).

An organizations' competitiveness can be determined by the cost of its products in relation to that of its competitors. It is about aiming to do things cheaply and give good value at low cost and still achieve a satisfactory return (Kenduiywo, 2005). In analysing quality, one must look at both product quality as well as process quality (Chase et al.,

2003). The product quality is achieved by design and is engineered to meet the target customer requirements. Process quality on the other hand ensures that the end product does not have any defects and therefore meets customer expectations. Timeliness can be broken into three categories namely delivery speed, delivery reliability, and product development speed (Chase et al., 2003). Speed as a competitive dimension requires that one makes the desired product or provides the desired service very quickly be dependable and also develop new products very fast relative to the competition. Flexibility refers to the ability to change the product's volume, variety and nature (Chase, et al., 2003). An organization that can change its product volume depending on demand or offer many other range of products and also be able to customize the product to the customer specification will gain competitive advantage over its competitors who have lesser flexibility in these dimensions.

1.1.3 The Wrigley Company

The Wrigley Company (East Africa) Limited is a fully owned subsidiary of the Wm Wrigley Jr company based in Chicago, Illinois (United States of America). The parent company is the worlds' largest manufacturer of Chewing gum with an annual turnover of US Dollars 5 billion and over 20 manufacturing plants in various parts of the world (source: <u>www.wriglevwin.com</u>). The Wrigley East Africa subsidiary operates a chewing gum manufacturing plant based in Nairobi (Kenya) and is the only plant in Africa and Middle East and therefore supplies chewing gum products throughout this region. In addition, the Wrigley Company East Africa Limited also runs the sales operations for Eastern Africa with an annual turnover of over Kenya Shillings 1 billion.

At the turn of the millennium, Wm Wrigley Jr. Company made a management decision to implement BPR in all its subsidiaries globally in order to adopt its business operations to rising pressure of global competition. The organization decided to radically change the way it conducts business globally by adopting the supply chain concept and Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) technology namely Systems Applications and Products Release 3 (SAP R/3) as an enabler. The organization engaged consultants from Deloitte international and set up a team referred to as the core team in Munich Germany. This team was composed of Wrigley business experts from various organization functions and countries. The core team came up with a model for the Wrigley worldwide business referred to as the global reference model (GRM). This model was approved and after that the rollout project code named WebEsprit was started.

The project (WeBEsprit) was rolled out starting with pilot countries in 2001 and moving on to groups of countries in what was internally named rollout waves. The Kenya business implemented the project in 2004 under Asia wave 3 and completed the process in December 2004 and beginning 2005 with the redesigned business processes.

1.2 Problem Statement

In Kenya and also all over the world, very often we hear of one organization after the other implementing business process reengineering. It is a big buzzword in the business environments and so popular that one wonders if it actually delivers value or is just hype (Davenport, 1998). Many organizations even use the term reengineering in order to undertake routine cost cutting measures such closing down non-profitable branches, reduce excess staff, change the organization structure etc. Other organizations are simply following the seemingly fashionable trend that other organizations are adopting without analyzing their internal and external business environments in order to justify a reengineering effort (Mayer & deWitte, 1998). This study intends to critically assess the BPR implementation for competitive advantage at the Wrigley Company.

In the late 1990's after the cold war and the advent of globalization, the world became one big market and there was a great desire for most global organizations like Wrigley to improve synergies among its subsidiaries in order to avoid duplication of efforts and performing its activities where it makes most sense. It became apparent for most businesses that you can manufacture products in low cost countries and ship to the more developed markets thereby improving your profitability. The biggest challenge would then be able to manage the logistics of balancing demand and supply and ensure that there is a seamless transition. Wrigley found this to be an opportunity and at the same in order to maintain its leadership position, it needed to take advantage of its geographical presence by implementing a common set of business processes across the entire globe hence the reengineering effort.

A number of studies have shown that success in BPR is not easy and indeed failure is more of the norm than the exception (Marchand & Stanford, 1998). Research shows that a lot of organizations undertake BPR after missing opportunities to undertake continuous improvement. GM and Ford did not wake up one morning to find the Japanese camped in their markets with a new way of making cars. Taiichi Ohno of Toyota conceived the concept of just-in-time manufacturing on a visit to America in the 1930s (Jackson, 1994). There are also a number of organizations that have realized enormous gains, Hallmark a US company reduced its design time by over 200% by reengineering its product design operations (Attaran & Wood, 1999). Wal-Mart reengineered its procurement and distribution processes by extending information to its suppliers from its internal IT systems therefore eliminating the traditional method of mass merchandisers. By doing so, it is estimated that Wal-Mart attained a 2% cost advantage over its nearest competitors which is a tremendous competitive advantage given that the market margins are about 6% (Attaran & Wood, 1999).

Most of these studies have been undertaken in the developed world. Using the case of the Wrigley Company, this study therefore sought to establish the possible reasons why an organization should undertake BPR initiatives, how to measure its success criteria in terms of gaining competitive advantage, and establish good practises for the BPR implementation process or what not to do when undertaking business process reengineering. An organization seeking to reengineer its processes would gain significant knowledge by following an example of a successful organization or avoid the pitfalls of an unsuccessful organization.

1.3 Objectives of the study

The objectives of this study were:

- a. To establish if the Wrigley Company succeeded in its BPR implementation by improving its competiveness.
- b. To determine the key factors that may have led to the success or failure of the BPR implementation.

1.4 Significance of the study

The findings of this study would be of interest to a number of persons, key among them would be:

- a. The Wrigley management would be able to understand if they succeeded in their BPR implementation and if not, the reasons for failure and they can be able to take corrective action
- b. Organizations seeking to implement BPR would have a methodology to adopt to assure success and pitfalls to avoid.
- c. Consultants assisting organizations to implement BPR or any other improvement tools would have a benchmark from a world-class organization.
- d. Project managers and technology companies would be able to take advantage of the study to manage an ERP implementation by understanding its key success or failure factors.
- e. Scholars would benefit from the study by conducting further research on applicability to local organizations.

CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW

In this section, the paper reviews research papers written by operations management scholars and defining the industry best practises from these research. In the first part, the paper reviews various models for implementing BPR and proceeds to discuss the critical success factors for BPR implementation. In the final part of this section, a review of competitive dimensions as researched by various scholars is discussed.

2.1 BPR Framework

There are several models and approaches to implementing BPR and an organization should seek to adopt depending on their organizations' needs and capabilities. (Drucker, 1993) wrote at the wall street journal that "A company beset by malaise and steady deterioration suffers from something far more serious than inefficiencies. Its 'Business Theory' is obsolete." No amount of reengineering will put a company on the right track without the right business theory. This means that organizations should not just jump into a reengineering exercise in the hope of attaining dramatic performance improvements if its underlying business strategy is already in the dogs.

Companies are driven to reinventing the corporation by one of three forces; desperation or crisis (60% of cases); foresight (30%); ambition (10%) (Hammer, 1990). Those driven by desperation must do something radical in order to survive; they have little to lose by leaping to a new, and untried, paradigm. Those with foresight anticipate that they will reach the desperation state unless they do something to avert it. The ambitious will move to a new paradigm to create crises for their competition.

An organization seeking to undertake BPR must therefore examine some key elements of its organization structure beforehand for maximum gains in the BPR implementation. Three such analysis methodologies are functional coupling, architectural triad and the restructuring framework.

2.1.1 Functional Coupling

In order to succeed in the reengineering effort, it is important to develop a proper understanding on how various functions are coordinated while participating in the same business processes. (Grover et al., 1998) define the ways that these organizational functions interact as functional coupling. Functional coupling can further be analysed into physical coupling and information coupling. Physical coupling refers to exchange of physical objects or documents between functions e.g. the sales department can create a physical document for shipping department to ship the product. On the other hand, information coupling refers to exchange of information between functions as opposed to physical items or documents e.g. the sales function has full visibility of inventories and can trigger a customer shipment by the shipping department. With globalization a major driver for competitiveness and manufacturing facilities located in diverse areas of the globe, it is becoming increasingly difficult for organizations to run on the physical coupling framework. Reengineering efforts therefore would undertake to reduce physical coupling and move towards information coupling. BPR would generally seek to create cross functional teams that collaborate with one another therefore reducing the number of steps required to execute given transactions. Chrysler reduced the time for manufacturing the Jeep Cherokee from 5 years to 39 months by undertaking reengineering efforts that would bring close collaboration between teams involved in the new product development process.

2.1.2 Architectural Triad

All organizations are supported by an architectural triad (Cule, 1995) which comprises of process, organization and information architectures. Process architecture refers to the way things are done including all manufacturing and human resources practices. Organization architecture values and beliefs of the organization and appertains to people. Information architecture covers all information, whatever its source, whatever its form, that is required to effectively execute the business of the company. An organization seeking to undertake a BPR effort must balance these 3 elements in order to ensure success. In addition (Cule, 1995) shows that organizations will undertake reengineering

efforts in two categories i.e. industrial age and information age. Organizations in the industrial age will mainly be cost driven in their efforts and would seek to improve efficiency and reduce costs. On the other hand the information age organization will be vision driven and undergo a complete transformation. The new processes will create will create new classes of worker, intra/inter-company relationships.

2.1.3 The Restructuring Framework

The restructuring framework (Marchand & Stanford, 1995) propose that organizations undertaking BPR must look at six dimensions of its organization namely culture, configuration and coordination which represent the firms dynamics and people, technology and information which represent the resources to be redeployed in the engineering effort.

Culture refers to the shared values and beliefs that underlie and define the organization whereas configuration refers to the internal and external organization structure of the firm. Coordination is concerned with material and information flow and its aim is to provide synergies by directing activities in the most logical way minimizing waste or delay. People are an invisible resource and are often forgotten in a reengineering effort with the wrong assumption that they will adapt quickly which more often than not do not and leads to failure. Technology refers to the enabling technology to support the business whereas information refers to the organizations knowledge, expertise, databases as well as intellectual property (Grover & William, 1998). In order to undertake a reengineering effort in a firm, all these six dimensions must be harmonized and a change in one dimension should be reflected in a similar change in all the other dimensions.

2.2 Key Drivers for Success or Failure.

BPR implementation requires transformational change and it takes an organization outside its current "rules of the game" (Dale, 1994). Rules of the game can be either explicit or implied i.e. they can be superficial manifestations of status buried deep within people's beliefs.

UNIVERSITY OF NAIROP

BPR implementation therefore is bound to confront the beliefs and values of the organization, complex and prejudice interests of employees in particular senior management. This will lead to resistance resulting in failure of the BPR project. It is known that to ensure success one ought to adopt certain best practices and watch out for certain pitfalls.

2.2.1 Compelling business case for change

In considering a BPR initiative, the first and possibly the most important success criteria is to make sure that the rationale for initiating the project is sufficient for justifying the effort and expense of the project (Mayer & deWitte, 1998). The business case is the centrepiece that defines the BPR project; this document should be able to be used by the BPR team as a measure of success (Dale, 1994).

The difference between where an organization is and where they want/need to go is usually the compelling business case for BPR. Financial pay back and real customer impact from BPR initiatives are difficult to measure and more difficult to obtain; without a rigorous business case both are unlikely to be realized (Prosci, 1998).

The business case should focus primarily on what it takes to help a customer to be totally successful. That is, the ultimate goals of a business from the customer's perspective (and, therefore, the business case itself) need to demonstrate how the business goals, such as revenue, profitability, improvements in other socio-eoconomic factors, growth of interest to the business, etc., are also supported (Prosci, 1998).

The BPR project goals should tie back to the key business objectives and the overall strategic direction of the organization. Each person within the organization should be able to see the alignment of the BPR efforts to the overall business direction with regards to financial performance, customer service, associate (employee) value, and the vision for the organization (Prosci, 1998). If the BPR goals do not align to the strategic objective of the firm then they can be counterproductive. This may arise in a situation where the BPR

efforts may be directed at an area that the firm may outsource or is not core to the business. As corporate strategy determines objectives and guidance on how organisational capabilities can be best utilised to gain competitive position, BPR strategy, accordingly, guides the alteration of tasks and flows into integrated processes, and variance in how tasks are performed and the flow of material, people, and information becomes a source of competitiveness (Hammer, 1990).

2.2.2 Top Management Sponsorship

BPR as described above is radical and therefore will require transformational changes in the organizations' processes, technology, job roles and culture (Dale, 1994). A significant change to even one of these areas requires resources, money, and leadership, changing them simultaneously is an extraordinary task. If top management does not provide strong and consistent support, most likely one of these three elements (money, resources, or leadership) will not be present over the life of the project, severely crippling the chances for success of the BPR project (Prosci, 1998). Executive leadership will create an environment for change to take place, without top management sponsorship, implementation efforts can be strongly resisted and ineffective (Attaran et al, 1999). Top management sponsorship in large or global organization should also include the line managers of the various locations that the BPR initiative is to be implemented. Line Management should have the ownership and accountability for organizational readiness (Al-Mashari & Zairi, 1999). A general rule of thumb in BPR implementation is that success can only be achieved if the management are in the driver's seat. BPR requires a "clean slate" or "green field" approach to process redesign. The question that senior executives should be asking is this: "If we are about to start this company, with the knowledge we now have, how would it be organized?" (Macdonald, 1995)

Commitment and leadership in the upper echelons of management are often cited as the most important factors of a successful BPR project (Hammer, 1995). Leadership has to be effective, strong, visible and creative in thinking and understanding in order to provide a clear vision of the future. This vision must be clearly communicated to a wide range of

employees who then become involved and motivated rather than directly guided. Commitment to and support for the change must constantly be secured from senior management throughout a BPR project since sufficient authority, knowledge and proper communication with all parts in the change process, are important in dealing with organisational resistance during BPR implementation.

Managers are also required to provide championship and sponsorship, as the champions must be able to persuade top management of the need to change and to continually push the change efforts throughout the organisation (Al-Mashari & Zairi, 1999). Political and material sponsorship by the champions of change to business processes, job definitions, reward systems, and organisational structure needs strong support from senior management

Risks associated with acceptance of changes in the organisational structure, new resources needed for the new processes, loss of personnel, and loss of earnings are some examples of the many risks that an organisation may take when implementing BPR (Attaran & Wood, 1999). Anticipating and planning for risk handling is important for dealing effectively with any risk when it first occurs.

The success of BPR efforts rests with those accountable to the day to day execution. There is however the drawback that the line managers often being so close to the problem that BPR is trying to solve may not recognize it (Prosci, 1999), however they still are most knowledgeable of the current systems, processes, customers, suppliers etc. Use of consultants can address this issue however the ownership must ultimately rest with the line operation, whether it be manufacturing, customer service, logistics, sales, etc.

The management should avail adequate resources and sufficient budget allocation is a critical success factor. If the BPR effort is starved of resources during implementation then there is a high chance of failure. The risks should be mitigated in the project management blueprint to ensure that adequate resources will be available.

2.2.3 Effective Change Management

Change management, which involves all human- and social-related changes and cultural adjustment techniques needed by management to facilitate the insertion of newly-designed processes and structures into working practice and to deal effectively with resistance (Carr, 1993), is considered by many researchers to be a crucial component of any BPR efforts.

One of the most difficult challenges of BPR implementation is resistance from those the implementers' belief will benefit the most. Underestimating the cultural impact of major process and structural change can lead to failure of a BPR project implementation (Prosci, 1999). Change is not an event but rather a continuous process concerned with leadership with open, honest and frequent communication.

BPR brings about different jobs, therefore the reward system needs to be changed to recognize these new changes (Al-Mashari & Zairi, 1999). Existing reward systems may be obsolete (Hammer & Champy, 1993) therefore the changes should be fair and equitable to promote harmony among employees as well as support the BPR efforts. This may be done through say changing job titles.

Communication is needed throughout the change process at all levels and for all audiences even with those not involved directly in the re-engineering project (Carr, 1993). Effective communication is necessary to market a BPR program. Communication should take place frequently and in both directions between those in charge of the change initiatives and those affected by them. It should be open, honest, and clear especially when discussing sensitive issues related to change such as personnel reductions (Al-Mashari & Zairi, 1999)

As BPR results in decisions being pushed down to lower levels, empowerment and involvement of both individuals and teams becomes a critical factor for successful BPR efforts since it establishes a culture in which staff at all levels feel more responsible and accountable and it promotes a self-management and collaborative teamwork culture.

BPR implementation introduces new ways of working and employees need to be trained to meet the new challenges (Attaran & Wood, 1999). BPR efforts typically require an increase of 30 -50% increase in an organizations' budget and is critical to success of implementation.

Organisational culture is a determining factor in successful BPR implementation since it influences the organisation's ability to adapt to change (AI-Mashari & Zairi, 1999). The existing culture contains beliefs and values that are often no longer appropriate or useful in the re-engineered environment. Therefore, the organisation must understand and conform to the new values, management processes, and the communication styles that are created by the newly-redesigned processes so that a culture which upholds the change is established effectively. Learning responsibilities should be built into the roles of individuals and groups within processes and a learning culture established (Colin & Coulson, 1996). When people are made resilient to change, they remain positive during uncertainty, focused, flexible, organised, and pro-active radical improvement.

2.2.4 Reengineering team composition

The members of the reengineering team can critically determine the success or failure of reengineering efforts. The team should be multi-skilled and combines experts from various functions of the organisation. An example team may be composed of (Prosci, 1999), some members who don't know the process at all, some members that know the process inside-out, some members representing impacted organizations and some technology gurus. Each person selected should be the best and brightest, passionate and committed in their areas of expertise and some members from outside the company as consultants.

Generally not everyone can be represented in the core team and the number should be kept low for easy management. They should command respect within the organization as leaders of change and are cross-functional with organic skills (Mayer & deWitte, 1998).

Consultants can bring to the organisation specialised skills, experience, and

know-how that the organisation needs and it is both time-consuming and expensive for it to build internally They can also provide a firm-wide view, encourage unity between members, and are usually neutral (Davenport, 1993). Success of consultants in BPR is determined by their level of experience in implementing similar projects in other organisations, as well as their ability to direct the re-engineering efforts to areas of substantial benefits to the organisation.

2.2.5 Effective use of Project Management Techniques

Effective use of project management techniques and managing people-related issues have a crucial role in smoothing the flow of the process redesign stages. A comprehensive piloting of the new design and learning from errors are particularly important for tuning a BPR implementation process to the most successful way. Measurement of project progress should also be maintained continually throughout a BPR project (Al-Mashari & Zairi, 1999). The project management should detail all the activities and resources demanded at any one time during the lifetime of the project. A project office is usually set up prior to implementation of a BPR project to coordinate the diverse activities and resources required at any one time.

A clearly defined and proven BPR methodology is essential to the success of the BPR effort. A BPR methodology should be designed or selected creatively to satisfy the current needs of the organisation. There are a number of proven methodologies that can be used to implement BPR the guiding principle is that they ought to have a track record of successful implementations.

2.2.6 Information Technology infrastructure

Researchers consider adequate IT infrastructure reassessment and composition as a vital factor in successful BPR implementation. The IT infrastructure and BPR are

interdependent in the sense that deciding the information requirements for the new business processes determines the IT infrastructure constituents, and a recognition of IT capabilities provides alternatives for BPR. IT infrastructure is highly dependent on an appropriate determination of business process information needs This, in turn, is determined by the types of activities embedded in a business process, and their sequencing and reliance on other organisational processes variance in how activities are performed and the flow of materials, people, and information can be a source of competitive advantage.

Effective alignment of IT infrastructure and BPR strategy, building an effective IT infrastructure, adequate IT infrastructure investment decision, adequate measurement of IT infrastructure effectiveness, proper IS integration, effective re-engineering of legacy IS, increasing IT function competency, and effective use of software tools are the most important factors that contribute to the success of BPR projects.

2.2.7 Effective Process re-design

Effective process orientation, appropriate level of process Knowledge, documentation of existing processes, appropriate selection of core processes, and use of prototyping are all critical components in successful BPR implementation. Adequate identification of process fits/gaps and evaluation of effectiveness of current processes by making use of appropriate software tools to visualise and analyse. Identifying process owners is also vital to BPR implementation.

2.3 Competitive Advantage

Superior operations effectiveness not only serves to buttress a company's existing competitive position, but, when based on capabilities that are embedded in the company's people and operating processes, is inherently difficult to imitate (Hayes & Upton, 1998). In today's competitive environment, markets are becoming more international, dynamic

and customer driven. Customers are demanding variety, better quality and service including both reliability and faster delivery (Duclos et al, 2003) and at a low cost.

In order for an organization to be deemed competitive, it should have the ability to prosper in the marketplace. This can also be defined as the firms efficiency and effectiveness of converting natural and human resources into useful goods and services and better than the rest of its competitors. From an operations perspective, we can consider cost as a measure of efficiency and quality, timeliness and flexibility as measures of effectiveness.

As described in the introductory part of this paper, we need to look at these competitive dimensions in more detail. There are a number of performance metrics but they can generally be grouped into 4 broad categories (Bowersox et al, 2002) namely cost management, customer service, quality and productivity.

2.3.1 Cost Management

Cost performance is generally measured using the amount of money spent on each activity. In pursuing a competitive cost leadership a firms products should generally be commodities and alternatives are readily available (Acquilano et al, 2003). The challenge with cost management for an organization is identify unique ways to deliver enhanced value that competitors will find difficult to imitate and thus providing a basis for sustainable competitive advantage (New & Westbrook, 2004).

The best strategy to pursue cost leadership is to use make to stock which is applicable for standardized products that sell in large volumes. Larger production batches keep manufacturing costs down, and having these products in inventory means that customer demand can be met quickly (Rousel & Cohen, 2005). The cost specific performance metrics (Bowersox et al, 2003) would include, total cost, cost per unit, cost as a percentage of sales, inbound / Outbound freight costs, administrative costs, warehouse order processing, direct labour, comparison of actual vs budget, cost trend analysis, direct

product profitability, customer segment profitability, inventory carrying, inventory turnover, cost of returned goods, cost of damage, cost of service failures and cost of back order.

The idea is to use these measures in relation to historical perspective and determine if there is improvement or not and if not, identify root cause and appropriate corrective action. This level of detailed data requires a high level of sophistication in accounting data. The challenge is for managers to identify the most applicable metrics for their organization and apply them consistently for performance management.

2.3.2 Customer Service

Business exists in order to make profit for its shareholders and this is done by converting resources and services that provide value to customers who in turn pay for these goods and services. The customer therefore is the centre of any organizations operations; a supply chain consists of all parties involved, directly or indirectly, in fulfilling a customer request. The primary purpose for the existence of any supply chain is to satisfy customer needs (Lan & Unhelkar, 2006).

Customer service measures the ability of the supply chain to meet the expectations of its customers. The customer is interested to receive their products in the required order quantities, on time, flexibility to make changes to SKU composition and consistently reliable.

The most significant measure of customer service is fill rate. Fill rate refers to customer orders shipped complete and is the most commonly used metric. It can be measured in a number of ways i.e. item fill rate, which refers to number of items ordered vs number of items delivered, line fill rate referring to number of purchase order lines vs number of purchase order lines delivered as complete, value file rate or total value of customer order vs total value delivered and order fill rate referring number of customer orders with respect to number of orders delivered complete. Other customer service specific metrics

(Bowersox et al, 2003) would include stock outs, on-time delivery, back orders, cycle time which refers to the average number of days between customer order receipt and delivery, delivery consistency, response time to enquiries, response accuracy, complete orders, customer complaints, sales force complaints, overall reliability and overall satisfaction

2.3.3 Quality

Quality in its most basic term may be described as Quality as a performance objective is about doing things right (Kenduiywo, 2005). Once an organization has set its quality objectives it needs to check if the products and services are conforming to the set standard. Quality is the most important performance objective as it has a direct impact on the other objectives as well. From an external or customer perspective, good quality means customer receives the product as he/she expects and has less or nothing to complain about the product. On the other hand from an internal perspective good quality implies that conformance is high in all operations and there is little mistakes meaning that there is improved dependability and speed of production as well as reduction in costs. Specific quality metrics (Bowersox et al, 2003) would include damage frequency, order entry accuracy, picking/shipping accuracy, document/invoicing accuracy, information availability/accuracy, number of credit claims, number of customer returns

2.3.4 Productivity

Productivity defines the relationship between inputs and outputs. From a supply chain perspective, it usually refers the ratio between output of goods and quantities of inputs utilized to produce the output. Productivity can be described in the form of total productivity and partial productivity (Waters, 2003) where total productivity is the ratio between total throughput and total resources used and partial productivity is the ratio between total throughput and units of single resource used.

Total productivity is hard to measure because it is difficult to have a common unit of measure for all inputs therefore lacking objectivity therefore partial productivity measures are used more often. According to (Waters, 2003) they can be classified measured by using equipment, labour capital and energy productivity. Equipment productivity refers to equipment utilization such as the number of customer visits per van, weight moved per forklift. Labour productivity refers to the parameters such as the number of deliveries per person, tonnes moved per shift, or orders shipped per hour worked. Capital productivity looks at the amount stored for each pound of investment, deliveries per unit of capital, or throughput per dollar invested in equipment. Energy productivity measures facts such as the number of deliveries per litre of fuel, amount stored per kilowatt-hour of electricity, or the value added for each pound spent on energy.

Other more specific measures of productivity (Bowersox et al. 2003) would include units shipped per employee, units per labor shilling/dollar, orders per sales representative, comparison to historical standard, goal programs, productivity index, equipment downtime, order entry productivity, warehouse labor productivity and transportation labor productivity

CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Research design

The research was a case study of the Wrigley Company. Case studies are relevant when conducting research in organizations where the intent is to study systems, individuals, programs, and events (Swanson & Holton, 2005). They are very appropriate when the researcher is interested in process or seeks an in-depth understanding of a phenomenon because of its uniqueness (Yin, 2003). The purpose of the research was to establish if the BPR program implementation at the Wrigley Company succeeded and in terms of improving its competitive position. The second objective of the study was to provide indepth insights to the key reasons why the company may have succeeded or failed in its BPR efforts by adopting or failing to adopt the key success factors. Both of these objectives require a detailed understanding of the Wrigley company processes and systems hence the choice. The research interviewed employees of the Wrigley Company to get their perception on various statements relating to the research objective, studies regarding perception have been done in the past using similar design by Nyawade (2002) and Nyambala (2007).

3.2 The Population

The population of the study were the Wrigley Company East Africa Limited employees. According to the company's human resources department, there are 173 permanent employees. Of these 173 employees, 141 are computer users with 121 and therefore able to provide informed observations as their roles may have been impacted by the BPR implementation. Of these 121 employees 17 are managers, 37 are Supervisors and 67 are non-managerial and non-supervisory level.

3.3 Sample Design

The sample was identified using simple random sampling and sample of 39 employees was selected. The central limit theorem states that, as sample sizes increase, regardless of

the distribution of a random variable in the population, sample means (\bar{x}_s) follow a normal distribution with a mean equal to the population mean (μ) and a variance equal to the variance in the population divided by the sample size used to compute the mean (σ^2/n) . In order for this rule to hold true by minimizing the standard error, the general rule of thumb is to use a minimum sample size of 30. Lynch (2005) showed that a when the sample size is 30, the sample mean provides a good approximation of the population.

3.4Data Collection

The primary data was collected by the use of a structured questionnaire; the questionnaire was divided into 3 sections (Appendix II). Section A was designed to capture the bio data of the respondent, In section B the respondents were presented with a 1 - 5 likert scale statements were the respondents were to select their extent of agreement to closed ended questions meant to gather their opinion in relation to the Wrigley Company gaining competitive advantage by implementing BPR. In section C, the respondents were requested to provide their extent of agreement to a number of statements intended to establish whether the Wrigley Company adopted or did not adopt the BPR critical success factors.

The questionnaire was coded into a web form and uploaded online to <u>http://kenva.questionform.com/public/sap</u> and an e-mail was automatically sent to the target sample. All questions were made mandatory using the web software and the respondents were requested to select neutral where they had no opinion. A reminder e-mail was sent to those respondents who had not completed the questionnaire within a week and more reminders were sent until 30 respondents were available.

3.5 Data analysis

The purpose of data analysis is to search for important meanings, patterns, and themes in what the researcher has heard and seen (Swanson & Holton, 2005). The data collected from the questionnaires was exported from the website into an excel worksheet. The data

was then be coded using a scale of 1 to 5 where strongly agree was coded as 1, agree as to 2, and so on. Coding can be thought of as data simplification or reduction in that we break up and categorize the data into simpler, more general categories (Swanson & Holton, 2005). The open ended questions will also be coded into the relevant categories.

Once the data was coded it was studied for patterns and simple descriptive statistics measures of frequency, weighted mean, and mode were used. In addition to these measures, a relatively new measure of consensus is also used. An agreement is a concurrence of opinion, a compatibility of observations reached by a team of individuals acting as a whole; it may also considered consensus (Tastle, Weirman & Dumdum, 2005). A complete lack of consensus e.g. 50% strongly agree and 50% strongly disagree, must generate a value of 0 and a complete consensus of opinion must yield a value of 1. An extension to the consensus measure is the strength of consensus which provides the extent to which the team tended to strongly agree with the statements.

CHAPTER FOUR: DATA ANALYSIS, FINDINGS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter the data collected from the research will be discussed. The data is summarized into descriptive statistics and presented in various tables in the form of weighted means, percentages, frequencies, mode, consensus and strength of consensus. The data was analyzed in order to understand the key objective of the study which is to establish whether The Wrigley Company gained competitive advantage by implementing BPR. In addition the responses were further analyzed for potential reasons for the success or failure of the BPR initiative against the key success factors for implementing BPR.

4.2 Employee responses

A total of 39 e-mail invitations with a link to the questionnaire site was sent out to the randomly selected sample, 32 responses were received however 2 questionnaires were incomplete and a total sample of 30 responses was used for the analysis.

4.2.1 Job Levels

The respondents were asked to state their level of seniority in the organization and Table 4.1 below illustrates the respondents divided into three levels of seniority namely managerial, supervisory and any other lower level.

Table 4.1 Respondents by Job Level

	FREQUENCY	PERCENT
Managerial	7	23.3%
Supervisory	9	30.0%
Other	14	46.7%
Total	30	100.0%

Source: Research Data

Given the target population of 121, 17 were managers or 14% of the population, 37 were supervisors representing 30% of the population and non management staff 67 or 55% of the population. The sample shows that there was a marginal overrepresentation of the managers group and a slight underrepresentation of the supervisory groups however the combined managerial and supervisory versus other non management levels was an accurate representation of the population (53% vs. population 55%).

4.2.2 Level of education

The respondents were also asked to state their level of education and the responses are summarized in Table 4.2.

	FREQUENCY	PERCENT
Postgraduate	6	20.0%
Graduate	11	36.7%
Higher Diploma	5	16.7%
Diploma	3	10.0%
Certificate	3	10.0%
High School	2	6.7%
Total	30	100.0%

Table 4.2: Respondents by level of education

Source: Research Data

From Table 4.2 20% of the respondents have an advanced university degree with a combined total of 56% having a university degree and above. More than 93% of the respondents have attended some post high school training. From this data, we can infer that the employees were literate enough to answer the survey questions reliably.

4.2.3 Years in employment

The respondents were also asked to state the number of years that they have been in employment with The Wrigley Company. The responses are summarized in Table 4.3.

Table 4.3:	Respondents	by years	of service
------------	-------------	----------	------------

	FREQUENCY	PERCENT
21 and Above	3	10.0%
16-20	4	13.3%
11-15	4	13.3%
6-10	13	43.3%
0-5	6	20.0%
Total	30	100.0%

Source: Research Data

More than 80% of the respondents have worked for the organization for at least 6 years. This means that they have the ability to give a more informed opinion on the impact of BPR on the organization as they have deep knowledge of the organizations' past as well as the present.

4.3 Competitive Advantage

The respondents were asked to state their extent of agreement with 31 different statements relating to improvement in competitive advantage resulting from the implementation of BPR. Each of the questions was framed in a 5 – point likert scale ranging from strongly agree to strongly disagree. The data was then coded with a weight of 1 for strongly agree, 2 for agree, 3 for neutral, 4 for disagree and 5 for strongly agree. The sum of all responses for each question was added up and analyzed as shown in Table 4.4.

Visual observation of the frequencies displayed in Table 4.4, shows that more than 65% of the respondents agreed that there was an improvement in the overall competitive advantage of the organization, almost a third (30%) were not sure if there was any improvement with about 8% of the respondents generally seeing no improvement in the competitiveness of the firm. However using the weighted mean of 2.26 we can say that there was overall improvement in the competitiveness of the firm as this number is less than 2.5 which is the accepted level of significance for likert means.

	Weight	Frequency	Percent	Cumulative	Weighted
				percent	mean
Strongly Agree	1	159	17.1%	17.1%	0.17
Agree	2	447	48.1%	65.2%	0.96
Neutral	3	251	27.0%	92.2%	0.81
Disagree	4	71	7.6%	99.8%	0.31
Strongly Disagree	5	2	0.2%	100.0%	0.01
Total		930	100.0%		2.26
Consensus					71%
Strength of Consensus					74%

Table 4.4 Overall responses to improvement in competitive advantage.

Source: Research Data

Using the consensus measure, which is a measure of central tendency we see that there is 71% agreement about the effect of BPR on improving the competitiveness of the organization. The strength of consensus also shows that there is strong agreement among the 74% of the respondents that the implementation of BPR lead to improvement in the Wrigley Company's operational competitive advantage. However the data needs to be analyzed in detail in order to isolate the extremes.

4.3.1 Cost Management

The respondents were asked specific questions relating to improvement of the firm in terms of cost management. Table 4.5 outlines the specific questions and the weighted mean and the consensus measures of the responses. It can be observed that overall cost management is deemed by the respondents to have improved with an overall weighted mean of 2.3 although there was a relatively low level of consensus at 68% which implies that there was relatively low central tendency of the responses.

From Table 4.5, it can be observed from the top 3 ranked responses that the respondents were in quite in agreement that stock management was significantly improved with weighted means ranking about 2 with high strength of consensus reaching. On the other hand there is almost no change in the actual product cost this is illustrated by the 2 least

ranked responses where there is a high level of consensus but the weighted mean is bordering neutral (2.73 and 2.93) and a low strength of consensus of 60%.

	Mean	Consensus	Strength of Consensus
Warehouse transfer orders are easier to process	1.60	78%	88%
Raw material inventory holding has reduced	1.90	74%	82%
There has been a reduction in expired stock	2.10	70%	77%
The total costs of running the business have reduced	2.37	74%	72%
Returns of finished goods are less frequent	2.40	75%	71%
Finished goods inventories have been reduced	2.40	65%	71%
There has been a reduction in cost of raw materials	2.73	69%	63%
The cost per box has reduced	2.93	76%	59%
Cost Management(Overall)	2.30	68%	73%

Table 4.5: Responses to improvement in cost management

Source: Research Data

Analysing the detailed responses in Appendix III shows that more than 93% of the respondents agreed that warehouse order transfer are easier to process whilst only 26% were in agreement that the cost per box had reduced due to the implementation of BPR. 93% is almost unanimous and one can state with certainty that BPR can significantly improve warehouse operations.

4.3.2 Customer service

The respondents were asked specific questions relating to improvement of the firm in terms of cost management. Table 4.6 outlines the specific questions and the weighted mean and the consensus measures of the responses.

From Table 4.6, there was overall improvement in customer server with a weighted mean of 2.33 and a medium consensus of 72%, the most important improvement according to the respondents was in the area of aligning both the organization and production towards meeting customer requirements. Order fill rate also improved after the implementation of BPR which may be a direct benefit of aligning the organization to the customer.

	Mean	Consensus	Strength of Consensus
Production is more aligned with customer requirements	2.07	78%	78%
The organization is geared towards putting the customer first as opposed to before	2.07	81%	78%
The number of customer orders shipped as complete has improved (order fill rate)	2.17	79%	76%
Customer orders are shipped on time unlike before	2.23	76%	75%
Most customer orders are filled from existing stock more than before(back-orders)	2.30	73%	73%
Customer complaints have reduced	2.40	75%	71%
The value of customer orders versus the value shipped has improved (value fill rate)	2.53	74%	68%
The level of stock-outs in the market has improved	2.90	71%	59%
Customer Service(Overall)	2.33	72%	73%

Table 4.6: Responses to improvement in customer service

Source: Research Data

From appendix 3, there is little or no improvement in the external environment that is either reducing customer complaints or product availability in the market where only 30% of the respondents agreed that there has been a reduction in the level of stock-outs in the market. This implies that although the organization used BPR to align itself to the customer, these benefits are yet to be accrued from increased customer orders or improved product availability in the market.

4.3.3 Quality

The respondents were asked specific questions relating to improvement of the firm's quality competitive dimension. Table 4.7 outlines the specific questions and the weighted mean and the consensus measures of the responses.

From Table 4.7, the respondents were quite in agreement that there was significant improvement in process quality however there was marginal improvement in product quality. There was a high strength of consensus of more than 80% regarding the significant improvement in information processing as well as warehouse operations.

	Mean	Consensus	Strength of Consensus
It is easier to locate the correct finished products for shipment	1.60	78%	88%
Information about process is readily available	1.83	82%	84%
Customer invoicing accuracy has improved	1.90	75%	82%
The picking of raw materials for manufacturing is more accurate than before	1.97	81%	81%
Accuracy of production bill of materials has improved	2.17	76%	76%
There is less defective products	2.30	76%	73%
The number of returns from customers has reduced	2.50	69%	69%
Quality (Overall)	2.04	78%	79%

Table 4.7: Responses to improvement in Quality

Source: Research Data

Detailed analysis from appendix III shows that more than 90% of the respondents agreed that information about process is readily available and locating the correct product for shipment in the warehouse has been significantly improved by the BPR implementation. The least improvement in the quality dimension was in the area of returns of defective products from the market closely followed by reduction in defective products. This may be partially attributed to the fact that the BPR exercise was not geared towards making any production process improvement and therefore there was no change in the product quality. It could also be possible that since only customer service and quality assurance departments handle returns from customers; there was little information from the rest of the respondents to answer the related questions.

4.3.4 Productivity

The respondents were asked specific questions relating to improvements in productivity at the Wrigley Company after the BPR implementation. Table 4.8 outlines the specific questions and the weighted mean and the consensus measures of the responses.

From the responses in Table 4.8, most respondents agreed that there has been increase in total production volumes and production levels per machine. Although this may is true from the survey it may not have been fully influenced by the BPR process. This is possible to infer because further analysis from appendix III shows that just over 50% of

the respondents agree that machine downtime and machine utilization have recorded any improvement in productivity due to the BPR implementation.

	Mean	Consensus	Strength of Consensus
Production volumes have increased	1.83	71%	83%
Production levels per machine have improved	2.13	73%	77%
Waste material has reduced	2.27	78%	75%
Machine utilization in terms of idle downtime is reduced	2.33	74%	73%
Number of idle labour is reduced	2.37	68%	72%
Machine downtime has reduced	2.40	75%	71%
Energy utilization is improved	2.63	72%	66%
Number of people required per machine has reduced	2.67	72%	65%
Productivity (Overall)	2.33	71%	73%

Table 4.8: Responses to improvement in Productivity

Source: Research Data

4.3.5 Overall improvement in competitive advantage

The responses from the respondents were summarized into the four categories of operational competitive advantage. Table 4.9 shows how the respondents

Table 4.9: Responses to overall improvement in competitive advantage

	Mean	Consensus	Strength of Consensus
Quality	2.04	78%	79%
Cost Management	2.30	68%	73%
Customer Service	2.33	72%	73%
Productivity	2.33	71%	73%

Source: Research Data

From Table 4.9, most respondents agreed that there has been most significant improvement in the quality competitive dimension of the organization from the BPR implementation. This is further supported by the detailed analysis where over 76% of the organization agreed that there has been improvement in quality after BPR process. It can also be inferred from Table 4.9 that all competitive dimensions recorded marked

improvement due to the implementation this is because all the weighted means are ranked below 2.5 with the overall weighted mean of 2.26. There is also a high overall strength of consensus of over 70% in all dimensions implying that all respondents.

4.4Key drivers for success or failure

The respondents were asked to state their extent of agreement with 30 different statements relating to important factors that determine the success or failure of BPR implementations. Table 4.10 summarizes the overall responses.

	Weight	Frequency	Percent	Cumulative	Weighted
				percent	mean
Strongly Agree	1	162	24.5%	24.5%	0.25
Agree	2	349	52.9%	77.4%	1.06
Neutral	3	106	16.1%	93.5%	0.48
Disagree	4	38	5.8%	99.2%	0.23
Strongly Disagree	5	5	0.8%	100.0%	0.04
Total		660	100.0%		2.05
					75%
					78%

Table 4.10: Summary responses to key drivers for success or failure

Source: Research Data

From Table 4.10 over 77% of the respondents agreed that the Wrigley Company adopted the key success factors that are required to succeed in implementing a BPR initiative. With an overall weighted mean of 2.05 and a high strength of consensus of 78%; it is possible to infer that the respondents were in agreement that the organization adopted the best practises for BPR implementation.

Table 4.11 details the questions posed to the respondents and the overall means and consensus measure of the responses.

	Mean	Consensus	Strength of Consensus
Compelling business case for change	1.70	78%	86%
Reengineering team composition	1.74	73%	85%
Information Technology Infrastructure	1.78	80%	85%
Effective Process re-design	2.05	86%	79%
Effective use of Project Management Techniques	2.07	81%	79%
Top Management Sponsorship	2.13	68%	77%
Effective Change Management	2.19	74%	76%

Table 4.11: Responses to key drivers for success or failure

Source: Research Data

From Table 4.11, it is evident that respondents agreed that there was a very strong business case to implement BPR. The organization also assembled a competent team of to undertake the reengineering exercise. From appendix III, detailed analysis from the respondents shows that over 96% agreed that the organization needed to improve information flow and change its structure from function based to process based.

CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Introduction

In this chapter the summary of the findings from the research discussed, the implications or conclusions based on the study will also be outlined and recommendations based on the study will be made. The focus will be on the objectives which are whether the Wrigley Company achieved competitive advantage by implementing BPR and if the success or failure can be explained by the adoption or failure to adopt the key drivers for success in implementing BPR initiatives.

5.2Summary and Conclusions

The Wrigley Company managed to achieve competitive advantage by implementing business process reengineering. This explained by the fact that all the four competitive advantage measures of cost management, customer service, quality and productivity had low mean scores. There was also overall high strength of consensus among the respondents that the improvement occurred which implies that the employees were all in agreement regarding the improvement and there was low dissension of the fact that the competitive advantage of the firm was improved by BPR implementation.

The key improvements were perceived by the respondents to be in the areas of process improvement and organizational alignment towards the customer. Little improvement was however noted in the area of cost reduction and productivity. This is explained by relatively high mean responses exhibited by the respondents towards the aspects of product cost reduction and overall cost reduction as well as improvement in the production process.

It is not surprising that the firm managed to gain competitive advantage from the implementation of BPR because the respondents agreed that key factors that assure

success in implementation were adopted. Key among the drivers for success in BPR was the compelling case for change which had unanimous agreement among the respondents that the organization had a strong case to undertake the BPR initiative.

It can be inferred that BPR implementation was focussed on process improvement especially in the area of process management and it was not geared towards direct cost reduction or productivity improvement. These sort of improvements may not be attained by implementing BPR alone, they may need to be supplemented by other improvement techniques such as TQM, TPM, Kaizen among other. It is also important to note that there was very good adoption of the key drivers for success in BPR implementation which not only supports the fact that the company succeeded in achieving competitive advantage but may also directly have contributed to the success.

5.3 Recommendations

From the findings of the study, organizations should not be apprehensive or scared to implement radical changes as BPR can actually lead to competitive advantage. The key areas of improvements can be achieved in process quality and customer service. It is possible to also achieve improvements in process cost and production efficiency but little improvements will be made in the area of direct product cost.

In order to undertake BPR, the most important factor to ensure success is to undertaken an analysis of the current situation. If there is a good case to undertake the changes, the top management must support the change and drive it through to success. All the key drivers for success must be taken care of and a lapse in any the factors may lead to failure of the BPR initiative. Good leadership is key to success and must be exhibited throughout the implementation phases.

Organizations should also seek to change the entire organization as opposed to making changes in departments. Information technology infrastructure and ERP software is a key enable to be able to undertake the change and monitor it holistically.

5.4 Limitations of the study

The key limitation of the study was the element of timing, the BPR process was undertaken over 3 years ago. This means that certain observations by the respondents may not have arisen through BPR implementation but other on-going improvement initiatives. It is also noted that during the past year's, the organization has undertaken TQM. TPM and OEE initiatives which may have distorted the findings of the study.

The other key limitation is the use of likert scale to collect the responses. In an ordinate scale, it is difficult to measure the real extents of agreement or disagreement and the values 1 to 5 used to analyze the data are arbitrary. There is also an assumption that the distance between each observation is 1 which is not necessarily true as the distance between strongly agree and agree maybe less or larger than that between disagree and strongly disagree.

In addition to the limitations of the likert scale, it is also not accurate to measure certain factors such as product cost, production cycle time, order fill rates among others using employee perception. These values should ideally be extracted and analyzed from the firm's information systems.

5.5 Suggestions for further research

The study was qualitative in nature and further research need to be done using quantitative methods especially for those factors that can be empirically measured. The information can be taken before and after completion of BPR implementation.

In the study, the focus was on improvement on competitive advantage after BPR implementation and using the key success factors to explain the results. No attempt was however made to link the key success factors and competitive advantage and test them for statistical significance.

REFERENCES

- Al-Mashari, M & Zairi, M (1999), BPR Implementation Process: An Analysis of Key Success And Failure Factors, MCB University Press, Business Process Management Journal, Vol. 5 No. 1, 1999, pp. 87-112
- Al-Mashari, M. & Zairi, M (2000), Supply-Chain Re-Engineering Using Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) Systems: An Analysis of a SAP R/3 Implementation Case, MCB University press, International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, Vol. 30 No. 3/4, 2000, pp. 296-313.
- Attaran, M & Wood, G (1999), How to Succeed at Reengineering, MCB University press, Management Decision 37/10 [1999] 752-757
- Berry, D (1999), The BPR SCOPE Concept in Leveraging Improved Supply Chain Performance, MCB University press, Business Process Management Journal, Vol. 5 No. 3, 1999, pp. 254-274
- Bowersox, D., Closs, D. & Cooper, M (2002), Supply Chain Logistics Management, McGraw Hill, Michigan State University, ISBN 0-07-235 100-4
- Chan, C.K. & Lee, C., (2005), Successful Strategies in Supply Chain Management. Idea Group Publishing, London
- Cule, P., 1995. Business Process Reengineering: Theory And Practice: Views From the Field, Business Process Change. Idea Group Publishing, Harrisburg, PA, 230-249.
- Colin, J & Coulson, T (1996), BPR and the Learning Organization, MCB University press, Volume 3 Number 1 1996 pp. 16-21
- Dickesberg, J (2006), Supply Chain Management with APO Structures, Modelling Approaches and Implementation of mySAP SCM 4.1, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin Germany
- Drucker, P. (1993), A Turnaround Primer, The Wall Street Journal.
- Duklos, L Vorkukar, R Lummus, R (2003), A Conceptual Model of Supply Chain Flexibility, MCB University press, Industrial Management and Data Systems 103/6
- Hammer, M. (1990), Re-Engineering Work: Don't Automate, Obliterate, Harvard Business Review, Vol. 68, July-August, p. 104.
- Hammer, M. and Champy, J. (1993), Reengineering the Corporation, HarperCollins, New York

- Hill, A (2003), The Encyclopedia of Operations Management, Carlson School of Management, University of Minnesota
- Hugos, M. (2003), Essentials of Supply Chain Management, John Wiley & Sons Inc. Hoboken, New Jersey.
- Jackson, D (1994), BPR:Hype or Reality, MCB University press, The TQM Magazine, Vol. 6 No. 6, 1994, pp. 19-22
- Kotzab, M., Seuring, S., Muller, M. & Reiner, G. (2005), Research methodologies in Supply Chain Management, Physica Verlag Heidelberg, New York.
- Lan. Y & Unhelkar, B (2006), Global Integrated Supply Chain Systems, Idea group publishing, London
- Lummus, M. & Vorkuka (1999), Re-Defining Supply Chain Management: A Historical Perspective and Practical Guidelines, MCB University press, Industrial management & Data Systems 99/1[1999] 11 17
- Macdonald, J (1995), Together TQM and BPR are Winners. MCB University press, Volume 7 Number 3 1995 pp. 21–25
- Marchand, D. & Stanford. M (1995), Business Process Redesign: A Framework for Harmonizing People, information and technology, Idea group publishing.
- Mayer. R & deWitte, P (1998), Delivering Results: Evolving BPR from Art to Engineering.
- Meyer, M (2003), Rethinking Performance Measurement Beyond the Balanced Scorecard, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge UK
- Mohanty, R (1998), BPR Beyond industrial engineering, MCB University press, Volume 47 Number 3 1998 pp. 90–96
- Neely, A (2004), Business Performance Measurement Theory and Practice, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge UK
- New, S & Westbrook, R (2004), Understanding Supply Chains Concepts, Critiques, and Futures, Oxford University Press, New York, 2004.ISBN0199259321
- Nyambala, J.A. (2007), Employee Perception of the Benefits of ISO9001:2000 Certification: The Case of Kengen, Unpublished MBA dissertation, University of Nairobi.

- Nyawade, F.O. (2002), Employee Perception of Knowledge Management Practises: A Case Study of British American Tobacco, Unpublished MBA dissertation, University of Nairobi.
- Porter, M. (1985), Competitive Advantage: Creating and Sustaining Superior Performance, The Free Press, New York

Prosci online (1998), Reingeneering success factors

- Robert, H & David, M (1998), Operations-Based Strategy, California Management Review, Volume 40, Number 4, Summer 1998
- Roder, A. & Tibken, B. (2006), A Methodology For Modeling Inter-Company Supply Chains and for Evaluating a Method of Integrated Product and Process Documentation, European Journal of Operations Research
- Rostaldas, A (1998), Enterprise Performance Measurement, International Journal of Operations and Production Management
- Rousel, J. & Cohen, S (2005), Strategic Supply Chain Management The 5 discplines for top performance, McGraw Hill, New York
- Shehab, M Sharp, M Supramaniam, L & Spedding, T (2004), Enterprise Resource Planning an Integrative Review, Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Business Process Management Journal, Vol. 10 No. 4, 2004 pp. 359-386
- Slack, M., Chambers, S & Johnson, R. (1995), Operations Management, Fourth Edition, Pearson Eduction, United Kingdom
- Spathis, C & Constantinides, C (2003), The Usefullness of ERP Systems for Effective Management, MCB University press, Industrial Management and Data Systems 103/9
- Stadtler, H. & Kilger, C. (2004), Supply Chain Management and Advanced Planning -Concepts, Models, Software and Case Studies, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin Germany, 3rd edition
- Steen, J (2006), Improving Supply Chain Management with Advanced Planning and Scheduling, Linkoping Institute of Technology Department of management and economics, Master Thesis
- Swanson, R. & Holton, E. (2005), Research in Organizations: Foundations and Methods of Inquiry, Berrett-Koehler Publishers
- Tarn, M., Yen, D & Beaumont, M. (2002), Exploring the Rationales of ERP and SCM Integration, MCB University press, Industrial Management and Data Systems 102/1

- Tastle, W. & Wierman, M. (2005), Consensus: A New Measure of Ordinal Dispersion Measure, International Journal of Approximate Reasoning
- Tastle and Tastle (2006), Extending the Consensus Measure: Analyzing Ordinal Data With Respect to Extrema. Information Systems Education Journal, 4 (72). http://isedj.org/4/72/. ISSN: 1545-679X.
- Valentine, R & Knights, D (1995), TQM and BPR Can You Spot the Difference, MCB University press, Vol. 27 No. 1, 1998, pp. 78-85
- Waters, D (2003), Logistics, An Introduction to Supply Chain Management, Palgrave MacMillan, New York
- Yin, R. (2003), Case study research: Design and Methods (3rd ed.). Applied Social Research Methods Series, No. 5. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage

APPENDIX 1: LETTER OF INTRODUCTION

GODWIN K. KAPTOGE FACULTY OF COMMERCE UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI P.O. BOX 30197 NAIROBI

Dear Sir/Madam,

I am a Master of Business Administration student at the University of Nairobi faculty of commerce. I am carrying out a research on Business Process Reengineering and its ability to provide improved competitive advantage. The Wrigley Company has been selected for this study and you have been randomly chosen as an employee. Kindly fill the attached questionnaire and include any additional comments if you wish.

I would like to assure you that this research is purely used for academic purposes and all information collected will be treated in confidence. A copy of the research findings will be made available to you on request.

Your cooperation will be highly appreciated.

Sincerely,

Godwin K. Kaptoge

APPENDIX II: QUESTIONNAIRE

SECTION A: Bio Data

Male Female 1. Please tick your gender 2. Age bracket a. 18 – 25 b. 26 – 35 c. 36 - 45d. 46 and Above 3. Which current organization do you belong to a. Commercial b. Supply Chain c. Don't Know 4. What is your current position in the organization 5. What level is your position a. Managerial b. Supervisory c. Other 6. How long have you worked for Wrigley a. 0 – 5 b. 6 – 10 c. 11–15 d. 16-20 e. 21 and above

- 7. What is your academic qualification
 - a. Postgraduate
 - b. Graduate
 - c. Higher Diploma
 - d. Diploma

- e. Certificate
- f. High School
- g. Primary school and below

WeBEsprit Project Overall View

- 8. What was your role in the project
 - a. Core team or power user
 - b. Key Stakeholder or manager
 - c. End user
 - d. None
 - e. Other (specify)

SECTION B: Competitive Advantage

In the following section, Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following statements as a result of the implementation of the reengineering process name WeBEsprit or SAP implementation.

On a scale of 1 to 5please where

[1] = Strongly Agree, [2] = Agree, [3] = Neutral

[4] = Disagree and [5] = Strongly Disagree

Cost Management	1	2	3	4	5
There has been a reduction in cost of raw materials	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
There has been a reduction in expired stock	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
The total costs of running the business have reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
The cost per box has reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Warehouse transfer orders are easier to process	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

Please state your level of agreement with the following statements.

Raw material inventory holding has reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Finished goods inventories have been reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Returns of finished goods are less frequent	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Inventory visibility has improved	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Manufacturing costs are more transparent	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Overall costs are easier to allocate to departments	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Costs can be monitored globally	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

Customer Service	1	2	3	4	5
The number of customer orders shipped as complete has improved (order fill rate)	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
The value of customer orders versus the value shipped has improved (value fill rate)	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
The level of stock-outs in the market has improved	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Most customer orders are filled from existing stock more than before (back-orders)	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Customer orders are shipped on time unlike before	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Customer complaints have reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Production is more aligned with customer requirements	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
The organization is geared towards putting the customer first as opposed to before	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

Quality	1	2	3	4	5
There is less defective products	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Accuracy of production bill of materials has improved	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
The picking of products for manufacturing is more accurate than before	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
It is easier to locate the correct finished goods products for shipment	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Customer invoicing accuracy has improved	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

The number of returns from customers has reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Information about processes is readily available	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

Productivity	1	2	3	4	5
Production volumes have increased	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Production levels per machine have improved	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Machine downtime has reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Machine utilization in terms of idle downtime is reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Number of people required per machine has reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Number of idle labour is reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
People are assigned more specific roles and productivity per person is measurable	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Energy utilization is improved	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Waste material has reduced	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

SECTION C: BPR Implementation

In the following section, Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following statements as based on your understanding of the WeBEsprit or SAP project prior to implementation.

On a scale of 1 to 5please where

[1] = Strongly Agree, [2] = Agree, [3] = Neutral

[4] = Disagree and [5] = Strongly Disagree

The Purpose of WeB Esprit or SAP	1	2	3	4	5
implementation was to?					
Eliminate non value adding processes	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Reduce levels of approvals	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Reduce overall costs of doing business	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Improve information flow at all levels	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Change organization from function based to process based	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Improve the knowledge and skills of its employees	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Use a common information technology platform (SAP R/3)	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Align business processes to the customer needs	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

In the following section. Please indicate the extent to which you agree or disagree with the following statements as based on your understanding of the WeBEsprit or SAP project during implementation.

On a scale of 1 to 5please where

[1] = Strongly Agree, [2] = Agree, [3] = Neutral

[4] = Disagree and [5] = Strongly Disagree

During WeB Esprit / SAP	1	2	3	4	5
implementation,					
Global executive leadership were fully committed to ensuring the project succeeds	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Local management were fully committed to making the project a success	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Management was willing to rethink new ways of doing business and start from a clean slate	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Project leaders had significant authority to make decisions	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Management had mitigated all risks should the project not succeed	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

The project team members had sufficient authority to make decisions on behalf of the business	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Sufficient resources were availed throughout the project	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Management communicated commitment to not downsize the organization	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Everyone was aware of their changing roles in the organization	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
There was regular communication about the project	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Employees were given more responsibility and accountability	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
There was sufficient training for project team members	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
There was sufficient training for end users	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Everyone was prepared for their roles during and post go-live	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Highly skilled consultants were part of the core team	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Power users were from different areas of the business	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
Power users were experts in their area of business	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
The project phases, outcomes and resources were well spelt out	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
IT infrastructure was ready to support new processes.	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
SAP Software spanned the entire business and fully supported the new business processes	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
The GRM was the framework for new processes	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]
A fit/gap analysis was carried out to map the old processes to the new ones	[1]	[2]	[3]	[4]	[5]

APPENDIX III: RESPONSES MEANS AND CONSENSUS

						1			
	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	TOTAL.	Mean	Con	Scon
There has been a reduction in cost of raw materials	1	13	9	7	0	30	2.73	69%	63%
There has been a reduction in expired stock	8	15	3	4	0	30	2.10	70%	77%
The total costs of running the business have reduced	2	18	7	3	0	30	2.37	74%	72%
The cost per box has reduced	1	7	15	7	0	30	2.93	76%	59%
Warehouse transfer orders are easier to process	14	14	2	0	0	30	1.60	78%	88%
Raw material inventory holding has reduced	10	15	3	2	0	30	1.90	74%	82%
Finished goods inventories have been reduced	5	13	7	5	0	30	2.40	65%	71%
Returns of finished goods are less frequent	1	19	7	3	0	30	2.40	75%	71%
The number of customer orders shipped as complete has improved (order fill rate)	4	18	7	1	0	30	2.17	79%	76%
The value of customer orders versus the value shipped has improved (value fill rate)	3	9	17	l	0	30	2.53	74%	68%
The level of stock-outs in the market has improved	2	7	14	6	1	30	2.90	71%	59%
Most customer orders are filled from existing stock more than before(back-orders)	4	15	9	2	0	30	2.30	73%	73%
Customer orders are shipped on time unlike before	2	23	2	2	I	30	2.23	76%	75%
Customer complaints have reduced	2	16	10	2	0	30	2.40	75%	71%
Production is more aligned with customer requirements	6	18	4	2	0	30	2.07	78%	78%
The organization is geared towards putting the customer first as opposed to before	5	20	3	2	0	30	2.07	81%	78%
There is less defective products	2	20	5	3	0	30	2.30	76%	73%
Accuracy of production bill of materials has improved	5	16	8	1	0	30	2.17	76%	76%
The picking of raw materials for manufacturing is more accurate than before	7	17	6	0	0	30	1.97	81%	81%
It is easier to locate the correct finished products for shipment	14	14	2	0	0	30	1.60	78%	88%
Customer invoicing accuracy has improved	10	13	7	0	0	30	2.50	69%	69%
The number of returns from customers has reduced	3	13						82%	84%
Information about process is readily available	8	19	3	0	0	30	1 83	71%	
Production volumes have increased	12	13	3	2	0	30	1.83		83%
Production levels per machine have improved	7	13	9	1	0	30	213	73%	77%
Machine downtime has reduced	3	13	13	1	0	30	2.40	75%	71%
Machine utilization in terms of idle downtime is reduced	4	13	12	1	0	30	2.33	74%	73%
Number of people required per machine has reduced	2	10	14	4	0	30	2.67	72%	65%
Number of idle labour is reduced	6	9	13	2	0	30	2.37	68%	72%
Energy utilization is improved	3	8	16	3	0	30	2.63	72%	66%
Waste material has reduced	3	16	11	0	0	30	2.27	78%	75%

Eliminate non value adding processes	14	14	2	0	0	30	1 60	78%	88%
Reduce levels of approvals	5	22	2	l	0	30	1 97	86%	81%
Reduce overall costs of doing business	4	25	1	0	0	30	1.90	91%	83%
Improve information flow at all levels	13	16	0	0	1	30	1 67	73%	86%
Change organization from function based to	15	13	1	1	0	30	60	75%	88%
process based									
Improve the knowledge and skills of its employees	10	16	3	1	0	30	1.83	77%	83%
Use a common information technology	17	12	1	0	0	30	1.47	79%	91%
platform(SAP R/3)									
Align business process to the customer needs	13	16	1	0	0	30	1_60	80%	88%
Global executive leadership were fully committed	20	9	1	0	0	30	1.37	81%	93%
to ensuring the project succeeed									
Local management were fully committed to making	9	12	6	3	0	30	2.10	68%	77%
the project a success									
Management was willing to rethink new ways of	5	14	3	7	1	30	2.50	57%	68%
doing business and start from a clean slate		- 10			-	- 20			500/
The local project leaders had significant authority	9	12	7	2	0	30	2.07	70%	78%
to make decisions	0	14	13	3	0	30	2.63	76%	66%
Management had mitigated all risks should the	0	14	12	2	U	30	2.03	/070	0076
project not succeed The project team members had sufficient authority	6	15	6	2		30	2.23	68%	74%
to make decions on behalf of the business				-	•	50	40.405	0070	, , , , ,
Sufficient resources were availed throughout the	8	18	1	2	1	30	2.00	74%	79%
project									
Management communicated commitment to not	6	13	9	2	0	30	2.23	71%	75%
downsize the organization									
Everyone was aware of their changing roles in the	3	21	2	4	0	30	2.23	75%	75%
organization									
There was regular communication about the project	6	21	2	1	0	30	1.93	84%	81%
Employees were given more responsibility and	5	19	5	- 1	0	30	2.07	81%	79%
accountability								820/	700/
There was sufficient training for project team	8	14	6	2	0	30	2.07	73%	78%
members	3	17	5	3	2	30	2.47	63%	69%
There was sufficient training for end users		17		2	0	30	2.30	75%	73%
Every one was prepared for their roles during and post go live	3	17	ð	4	0	30	2.30	1376	1570
Highly skilled consultants were part of the core	13	12	5	0	0	30	1.73	74%	85%
team	1.5	12		Ŭ	Ū				
Power users were from different areas of the	15	13	2	0	0	30	1.57	78%	89%
business									
Power users were experts in their area of the	11	13	3	3	0	30	1.93	70%	81%
business									
The project phases, outcomes and resources were	5	19	5	1	0	30	2.07	81%	79%
well spelt out									
IT infrastructure was ready to support new process.	10	17	3	0	0	30	1.77	80%	85%
SAP Software spanned the entire business and	9	18	3	0	0	30	1_80	81%	84%
fully supported the new business processes									
A global or local reference model was the	5	22	3	0	0	30	1.93	87%	82%
framework for new processes							2.12	0.367	77%
A fit/gap analysis was carried out to map the old	3	19	8	0	0	30	2.17	82%	//%
processes to fit to the new ones									